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This Article surveys significant cases decided by the Eleventh Circuit
during 2002 in the area of securities regulation. In particular, this
Article analyzes cases brought against a company's outside auditors and
outside legal counsel.

In the wake of recent corporate accounting scandals,1 and as a
product of the weak economy, plaintiffs have begun focusing their
litigious attention towards outside auditors and outside legal counsel.2

The outside auditors who are named as a defendant typically have
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1. For a review of the "avalanche" of corporate accounting scandals in 2002, see
Penelope Patsuris, The Corporate Scandal Sheet, available at http://www.forbes.com/home
/2002/07/25/accountingtracker.html.

2. Under the Supreme Court's holding in Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First
Interstate Bank of Denver, NA, 511 U.S. 164 (1994), secondary actors such as outside
auditors can be held primarily liable under Section 10(b) and Rule lob-5 of the Exchange
Act for material misstatements and omissions in a company's documents if all of the
requirements for primary liability under Section 10(b) and Rule lOb-5 are met. Id. at 191.
Courts have split over the requirements to hold a secondary actor primarily liable under
Rule lOb-5. The Eleventh Circuit has held that in order for an auditing firm to be
primarily liable under Section 10(b) and Rule lob-5 of the Exchange Act, "the alleged
misstatement or omission.., must have been publicly attributable to the defendant at the
time that the plaintiff's investment decision was made." Ziemba v. Cascade Int'l, Inc., 256
F.3d 1194, 1205 (11th Cir. 2001). For a timely analysis of the Central Bank holding as it
relates to outside auditors, see In re Enron Corp. Securities, Derivative & ERISA Litigation,
235 F. Supp. 2d 549, 581-94 (S.D. Tex. 2002).
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issued audit opinions declaring that a company's financial statements
fairly present the financial position of that company, and then the
company is later required to restate its financial statements for the
period of the audit.' The company's outside legal counsel who are
named as a defendant typically have issued a legal opinion for certain
transactions and may be privy to material, nondisclosed information that
the plaintiffs believe should have been disclosed. Section 10(b)4 and
Rule 10b-55 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act")
make illegal any material misstatement or omission in connection with
the purchase or sale of any security. In general, when alleging fraud
under Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act, plaintiffs must meet the Act's
pleading requirements,' as well as the specific pleading requirements
of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b)7 and the Private Securities

3. An unqualified audit opinion will generally state:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in

all material respects, the financial position of [Company] and its subsidiaries as of [date]
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended [date], in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

4. Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act states:
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means
or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any
national securities exchange- . . . (b) To use or employ, in connection with the
purchase or sale of any security ... , any manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may
prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection
of investors.

15 U.S.C. § 78j (2000).
5. Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act states:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means
or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any
national securities exchange,

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a

material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase or
sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2002).
6, To sufficiently plead a 10b-5 claim, a plaintiff must show that in connection with the

purchase or sale of securities there was "(1) a misstatement or omission, (2) of material
fact, (3) made with scienter, (4) on which plaintiff relied, (5) that proximately caused his
injury." Bryant v. Avado Brands, Inc., 187 F.3d 1271, 1281 (11th Cir. 1999).

7. Rule 9(b) requires that "the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be
stated with particularity." FED. R. Civ. P. 9(b). The Eleventh Circuit has held that the
pleading requirement contained in Rule 9(b) is satisfied if the complaint sets forth
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Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "PSLRA").8 One element that a
plaintiff must demonstrate in its Rule 10b-5 complaint is scienter.
Scienter is defined as the "intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud."9

To sufficiently plead scienter under the PSLRA, a complaint must state
with particularity facts that give rise to a "strong inference" that the
defendant acted with scienter.'0 The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals
has established that scienter may be sufficiently pleaded by "alleging
with particularity that a defendant acted with a severely reckless state
of mind.""

I. OUTSIDE AUDITORS
It is well established in the Eleventh Circuit that alleging a violation

of generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") or generally
accepted accounting standards ("GAAS") is not sufficient, by itself, to
establish a strong inference of scienter on the part of an outside auditor,
even if the auditor is grossly negligent in carrying out its responsibili-
ties.12 Rather, the Eleventh Circuit requires additional evidence of

(1) precisely what statements were made in what documents or oral representa-
tions or what omissions were made, and (2) the time and place of each such
statement and the person responsible for making (or, in the case of omissions, not
making) same, and (3) the content of such statements and the manner in which
they misled the plaintiff, and (4) what the defendants obtained as a consequence
of the fraud.

Ziemba, 256 F.3d at 1202 (quoting Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Fla., Inc., 116
F.3d 1364, 1371 (11th Cir. 1997)).

8. Pub. L. No. 104-67, 109 Stat. 737 (codified in scattered sections of 15 U.S.C. (2002)).
The specific pleading requirements of PSLRA can be found at 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b) (2000).

9. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1347 (7th ed. 1999); Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425
U.S. 185, 193-94 n.12 (1976).

10. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2).
11. Bryant, 187 F.3d at 1283.

"Severe recklessness is limited to those highly unreasonable omissions or
misrepresentations that involve not merely simple or even inexcusable negligence,
but an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care, and that present
a danger of misleading buyers or sellers which is either known to the defendant
or is so obvious that the defendant must have been aware of it."

McDonald v. Alan Bush Brokerage Co., 863 F.2d 809, 814 (11th Cir. 1989) (quoting Broad
v. Rockwell Int'l Corp., 642 F.2d 929, 961-62 (5th Cir. 1981) (en banc)).

12. Cheney v. CyberGuard Corp., No. 98-6879-CIV-GOLD, 2000 WL 1140306 (S.D. Fla.
July 31,2000); Holmes v. Baker, 166 F. Supp. 2d 1362 (S.D. Fla. 2001); In re Sunbeam Sec.
Litig., 89 F. Supp. 2d 1326 (S.D. Fla. 1999); Carley Capital Group v. Deloitte & Touche,
LLP, 27 F. Supp. 2d 1324 (N.D. Ga. 1998). The Eleventh Circuit is in accord with other
circuits that hold allegations of GAAP and GAAS violations insufficient, without more, to
plead a 10b-5 claim. See Serabian v. Amoskeag Bank Shares, Inc., 24 F.3d 357, 362 (1st
Cir. 1994), superseded by 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2); Chill v. Gen. Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 263, 270
(2d Cir. 1996); In re Enron, 235 F. Supp. 2d at 707; DSAM Global Value Fund v. Altris
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severe recklessness, such as facts placing a reasonable auditor on notice
of wrongdoing, which the auditor chooses to ignore. 3 The courts refer
to these facts as "red flags." In 2002 two courts in the Eleventh Circuit
expounded upon the scienter pleading requirements to evidence severe
recklessness by the outside auditors, with one court finding that the
plaintiffs met the requisite pleading requirements, 4 and the other
finding the plaintiffs did not. 5

In In re Hamilton Bankcorp, Inc. Securities Litigation,6 plaintiffs
claimed that Hamilton Bankcorp, Inc. ("Hamilton"), certain of its control
persons, and Deloitte & Touche, LLP ("Deloitte") engaged in a three-year
scheme to artificially inflate and maintain the market price of Hamil-
ton's stock.' 7 As a result, Hamilton was required to restate a number
of its financial statements, which significantly reduced its net income."8

To satisfy the scienter pleading requirements with respect to Deloitte,
plaintiffs claimed that Deloitte knew about and ignored the following red
flags: the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") was
conducting an intensive and wide-ranging investigation of Hamilton;
Hamilton's simultaneous sale and purchase of overpriced loans or
securities to avoid a write-down on its books; numerous violations of
banking procedure and GAAP; and a press release issued by Hamilton
in which it claimed that it was only taking additional reserves for
exposure in Ecuador to appease its banking regulations, even though
GAAP did not require the taking of the reserve. 9 The District Court
for the Southern District of Florida determined that the plaintiffs in
Hamilton had satisfied the pleading requirements of the PSLRA and had
alleged more than the existence of GAAP and GAAS violations.20

In In re Sunterra Corp. Securities Litigation,2' Sunterra took a $44.3
million charge a year after Arthur Anderson, LLP issued an unqualified
audit opinion.22 Plaintiffs alleged scienter on the part of Arthur

Software, Inc., 288 F.3d 385, 390 (9th Cir. 2002); City of Philadelphia v. Fleming Cos., 264
F.3d 1245, 1261 (10th Cir. 2001).

13. See CyberGuard, 2000 WL 1140306, at *11-12; Baker, 166 F. Supp. 2d at 1380;
Sunbeam, 89 F. Supp. 2d at 1345; Carley Capital, 27 F. Supp. 2d at 1340.

14. In re Hamilton Bankcorp, Inc. Sec. Litig., 194 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1357 (S.D. Fla.
2002).

15. In re Sunterra Corp. Sec. Litig., 199 F. Supp. 2d 1308, 1314 (M.D. Fla. 2002).
16. 194 F. Supp. 2d 1353 (S.D. Fla. 2002).
17. Id. at 1356.
18. Id. at 1358 n.3
19. Id. at 1359 n.4.
20. Id. at 1358.
21. 199 F. Supp. 2d 1308 (M.D. Fla. 2002).
22. Id. at 1332. Plaintiffs alleged that Sunterra had overstated its revenue and

understated its expenses as a result of improper internal accounting practices and policies.
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Anderson based on the magnitude of the GAAP violations, Arthur
Anderson's awareness that it was required to comply with GAAS while
conducting the audit, and the following red flags: Sunterra's lack of
internal controls and Sunterra's motive to engage in fraud.23 The
District Court for the Middle District of Florida determined that
plaintiffs in Sunterra did not meet the scienter pleading requirements
and dismissed their complaint against Arthur Anderson. 24

In both Hamilton and Sunterra, the issue turned on whether plaintiffs
pleaded facts in addition to violations of GAAP or GAAS that, when
combined with those violations, established a strong inference of an
intent to defraud or severe recklessness on the part of the independent
auditors. In reaching their decisions, the courts focused on allegations
of the following three facts: the magnitude of the error, the lack of
internal controls, and the motive to commit fraud.

A. Magnitude of Error

The courts in both cases discussed the magnitude of the error resulting
from the GAAP or GAAS violations as evidence of the outside auditor's
severe recklessness. The court in Sunterra, while acknowledging the
size of the overstatement in that case, determined that because only a
portion of the overstatement could be attributed to Arthur Anderson,25

the magnitude allegation "[fell] short of tilting the scales in favor of a
finding of a strong inference of severe recklessness on the part of Arthur
Anderson."2 The court in Hamilton, finding that plaintiffs met the
heightened pleading requirements, relied in part on the magnitude of the
misstatement, "which significantly dwarf[ed] that recognized in [Cheney
v. CyberGuard27]," to find a strong inference of severe recklessness."
In 2000 the District Court for the Southern District of Florida concluded
in CyberGuard that the size of the restatement in that case, "without
evidence that the auditor was aware of the falsity of the original
statement[]," was not sufficient to create an inference of scienter.29 In
2001, however, the District Court for the Southern District of Florida in
Holmes v. Bakere0 appeared to move away from the CyberGuard

See id. at 1318.
23. Id. at 1333.
24. Id. at 1338.
25. The court concluded that Arthur Anderson's audit encompassed only three of the

sixteen months in the class period. Id.
26. Id.
27. No. 98-6879-CIV-GOLD, 2000 WL 1140306 (S.D. Fla. 2000).
28. 194 F. Supp. 2d at 1359.
29. 2000 WL 1140306, at *12.
30. 166 F. Supp. 2d 1362 (S.D. Fla. 2001).
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holding in finding "a limited inference of scienter based upon the
magnitude allegations."3 ' The Hamilton and Sunterra cases, coupled
with the decision in Baker, imply that courts in the Eleventh Circuit
may begin to find a sufficient pleading of scienter based solely on the
magnitude of the GAAP or GAAS violations. In 1998 the District Court
for the Northern District of Georgia in Carley Capital Group v. Deloitte
& Touche, LLP 2 explicitly stated that allegations of GAAP violations
"when combined with a drastic overstatement of financial results can
give rise to a strong inference of scienter."3 In the event the Eleventh
Circuit courts do not follow this recent trend, magnitude allegations will
remain an important factor in determining whether auditors acted with
severe recklessness, although measures on the part of an auditor to
prevent the fraud may counter a finding of severe recklessness.'

B. Lack of Internal Controls

In both cases, plaintiffs alleged that improper internal accounting
practices, referred to as a lack of internal controls, were red flags
ignored by the outside auditors. In Sunterra, plaintiffs alleged that
Arthur Anderson should have been suspicious of Sunterra's improper
internal accounting practices.3 5 While plaintiffs contended that Arthur
Anderson was frequently at Sunterra headquarters, had continual access
to Sunterra's records as part of its service as Sunterra's tax consultants,
and attended Sunterra's audit committee meetings, plaintiffs did not
allege that Arthur Anderson knew about the improper accounting
practices."6 As part of its review of other cases in which plaintiffs
alleged a lack of internal controls as a red flag, 7 the court in Sunterra
relied upon the decision by the District Court for the Southern District
of Florida in In re Sunbeam Securities Litigation.3 8 The facts in
Sunbeam indicated that the auditors: (i) had served in such capacity for
a long period of time, (ii) knew that the Sunbeam internal audit team

31. Id. at 1379.
32. 27 F. Supp. 2d 1324 (N.D. Ga. 1998).
33. Id. at 1339.
34. Baker, 166 F. Supp. 2d at 1379 (finding a limited inference of scienter based upon

the magnitude of the overstatement but holding that scienter was refuted by preventative
measures by the accountant to stop the accounting fraud).

35. Sunterra was involved in the business of selling timeshares. Sunterra's improper
accounting included: recognizing revenue upon the entry of contract to sell a timeshare
unit, failing to remove entries as a receivable when the contract was cancelled, reselling
inventory, and failing to maintain a mortgage receivables file. 199 F. Supp. 2d at 1334.

36. Id. at 1333.
37. Id. at 1335.
38. 89 F. Supp. 2d 1326 (S.D. Fla. 1999).
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was short staffed, (iii) were aware of an article appearing in Barron's
magazine accusing Sunbeam of manipulating its financial statements,
and (iv) had been tipped by one of Sunbeam's employees that Sunbeam
had overstated its restructuring reserves.3" The court in Sunterra
noted that there were no similar allegations of tipping or knowledge
alleged against Arthur Anderson in its case.4' The court also analyzed
the facts from Carley Capital,4' in which the court determined that
scienter had been sufficiently pleaded."' In Carley Capital, the court
placed great weight on the fact that the outside auditors were signifi-
cantly involved in the management of the company.43 The court in
Sunterra noted that Carley Capital was factually distinguishable
because plaintiffs in Sunterra did not allege that Arthur Anderson was
extensively involved in the management of Sunterra."4  Because
plaintiffs did not allege that Arthur Anderson had been tipped as to the
accounting improprieties or was extensively involved in the management
of Sunterra, the court determined that plaintiffs had not sufficiently
pleaded that Arthur Anderson was severely reckless in issuing a clean
audit opinion.45

Unlike the court in Sunterra, the court in Hamilton held that
plaintiffs adequately pleaded that the lack of internal controls at
Hamilton was a red flag that Deloitte was severely reckless in not
discovering.46 The court relied on the fact that the OCC found a lack
of internal controls in nineteen problem areas and specific GAAP and
GAAS violations after a routine review, as compared to a full audit.47

More importantly, plaintiffs alleged that Deloitte knew about specific
instances of GAAP violations.4

' The court distinguished these facts
from the facts in CyberGuard on the ground that plaintiffs only alleged
violations of GAAP in the failure of the accountants to discover GAAP
violations, while in Hamilton, Deloitte had actual knowledge of GAAP
violations.49

These two cases illustrate that in order for a plaintiff to sufficiently
plead lack of internal controls as a red flag, plaintiff must plead with

39. Id.
40. Id. at 1336.
41. Id. at 1334.
42. 27 F. Supp. 2d at 1339.
43. Id.
44. 199 F. Supp. 2d at 1335.
45. Id. at 1337.
46. 194 F. Supp. 2d at 1359.
47. Id.
48. Id.
49. Id.
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particularity either that the auditors should have known of GAAP
violations because of the extensive level of its involvement with the
company's management or that the auditors did in fact know of
instances of GAAP violations and chose to ignore them. The failure to
discover a violation of GAAP or GAAS will be deemed itself a violation
of GAAP or GAAS and, without more, will not support an inference of
scienter s

C. Motive to Commit Fraud

Plaintiffs in Sunterra argued that Sunterra's motive to commit fraud
was a red flag that should have concerned a reasonable auditor."'
Sunterra had implemented an aggressive growth strategy and was
dependent upon its ability to access the asset-backed securitization
market.5 2 Sunterra's alleged motive was to "inflate and maintain the
price of Sunterra's publicly traded securities in order to enable Sunterra
to pursue an aggressive growth strategy, to secure and increase credit
lines, and to acquire and expand its inventory of timeshare proper-
ties."53 The court held that Sunterra's motive was an insufficient red
flag to put Arthur Anderson on notice of any wrongdoing." Interest-
ingly, the court went on to note that it was "significant" that plaintiffs
had not alleged that Arthur Anderson had a motive to commit or
participate in fraud." The court stated that "[a]n auditor's conflict of
interest compromising the auditor's independence might well weigh
heavily in favor of a finding of scienter."5 Although Arthur Anderson
served as a consultant for Sunterra, plaintiffs had not suggested that the
relationship compromised Arthur Anderson's independence.5 7

50. See also CyberGuard, 2000 WL 1140306, at *11; Baker, 166 F. Supp. 2d at 1380
(finding that although plaintiffs had alleged the accountants knew that the company's
inventory accounting control systems had material weaknesses, scienter was not
sufficiently pleaded because there was no allegation that the accountant had "actual
awareness of accounting fraud").

51. 199 F. Supp. 2d at 1334.
52. Id.
53. Id. at 1318.
54. Id. at 1336. The court relied on the holding in CyberGuard in which plaintiffs made

similar allegations to those in Sunterra, including the auditors' knowledge that the
company needed to improve its financial condition. Id.

55. Id. at 1337.
56. Id.
57. Id. at 1338. Section 201(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 now prohibits an

independent auditor from performing certain nonaudit services for a company. 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350 (2002).
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Based upon Sunterra and its predecessors,58 it does not appear that
courts in the Eleventh Circuit will be sympathetic to the argument that
an auditor's knowledge of the company's motive to commit fraud is a
sufficient red flag to put the auditor on notice of accounting impropri-
eties, but Sunterra indicates that the courts may be willing to find
scienter in the event of an auditor's conflict of interest.59

II. OUTSIDE LEGAL COUNSEL

Like accountants, lawyers are governed within their profession by
certain standards of care, including the ABA's Model Rules of Profession-
al Conduct and the Model Code of Professional Responsibility. °

Additionally, on January 23, 2003, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC") announced that it had adopted final rules to
implement Section 307 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.61 The SEC
rules set forth minimum standards of professional conduct for attorneys
appearing and practicing before the SEC when representing a public
company.6 2 Even with the new rules regarding conduct for attorneys
practicing before the SEC, in comparing responsibilities to third parties
between attorneys and accountants, attorneys appear to be less
vulnerable to third party liability than accountants because accountants
owe a primary duty to the public, while attorneys owe a primary duty
to their client.63

58. See CyberGuard, 2000 WL 1140306, at *12 (finding that KPMG's awareness of the
company's pressure to raise additional financing, along with other alleged red flags, was
not sufficient to support scienter).

59. Motive by itself is generally not sufficient to establish scienter in the Eleventh
Circuit. Bryant, 187 F.3d at 1285-86. However, the court in Sunterra indicated that the
outside auditor's motive in addition to the GAAP violation may be enough. 199 F. Supp.
2d at 1338.

60. See generally Manning Gilbert Warren III, The Primary Liabilities of Securities
Lawyers, 50 SMU L. REV. 383, 391 (1996) (surveying professional standards by which
securities lawyers are governed).

61. Press Release, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, SEC Adopts Attorney
Conduct Rule under Sarbanes-Oxley Act (January 23, 2003), available at http://www.sec.
gov/news/press/2003-13.htm. Section 307 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 can be found
at 15 U.S.C. § 7244 (2002).

62. Pursuant to Section 307 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the SEC rules require
that an attorney report "up the ladder" within the company when the attorney becomes
aware of evidence of a material violation by the company or by any of its officers, directors,
employees, or agent. 15 U.S.C. § 7244.

63. See Candida P. Jose, Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933: The Disproportionate
Liability Imputed to Accountants, 27 DEL. J. CORP. L. 565, 577 (2002).
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A. Infocure Securities Litigation

In In re Infocure Securities Litigation,64 eight stockholders sued
Morris, Manning & Martin, LLP and its client, Infocure Corp., for
various securities violations under Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act. In
1999 Infocure was a publicly-traded corporation headquartered in
Atlanta, Georgia and was a leading national provider of information
technology and services targeting healthcare providers. Part of
Infocure's growth strategy in 1999 involved acquiring other healthcare
companies and using Infocure stock as consideration for the transactions.
Plaintiffs' claims in Infocure arose out of a series of transactions in 1999
in which Infocure acquired companies owned by the eight different
plaintiffs in exchange for Infocure stock. 5 Plaintiffs alleged that
Morris, Manning & Martin, an Atlanta law firm that represented
Infocure, failed to timely register the shares of Infocure stock used as
consideration in the mergers for resale under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act")." Plaintiffs also alleged
that this failure to register the shares under the Securities Act resulted
in plaintiffs being unable to sell the Infocure stock they received in the
merger transactions. As a result, plaintiffs suffered large losses when
the Infocure stock price collapsed in early 2000.67

Additionally, plaintiffs claimed that Morris, Manning & Martin failed
to disclose certain material information to plaintiffs, including the hiring
of an investment banking firm to review strategic alternatives for
Infocure (including the possible sale of Infocure), Infocure's adoption of
a new business strategy, and merger discussions in late 1999 and early
2000." After plaintiffs settled their claims with Infocure, plaintiffs
attempted to recover damages from Morris, Manning & Martin.69

Infocure poses several tough questions under Rule 10b-5, including (i)
what obligation a law firm representing one company in a merger
involving securities has to the other company and its officers, directors,
and shareholders; (ii) if the law firm makes certain promises to the
nonclient, does the law firm have to honor such promises; and (iii) what

64. 210 F. Supp. 2d 1331 (N.D. Ga. 2002).
65. Id. at 1335.
66. See generally id. The Securities Exchange Act of 1933 can be found at 15 U.S.C.

§§ 77a-77z, 77aa (2000).
67. 210 F. Supp. 2d at 1335-36.
68. Id. at 1342-43.
69. Id. at 1335.
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and how much disclosure, if any, does a law firm need to make to the
nonclient party to avoid liability?"

B. Rule 10b-5 Analysis

The SEC promulgated Rule 10b-5 "to prohibit the making of any
untrue statement or omission of material fact that would render
statements misleading in connection with the purchase or sale of any
security." 1  Under Rule 10b-5, "a plaintiff must prove that the
defendant (1) made a misstatement or omission, (2) of material fact, (3)
with scienter, (4) in connection with the purchase or sale of securities,
(5) upon which the plaintiff relied, (6) that proximately caused the
plaintiff's injury to succeed on a securities fraud claim. 2

The court in Infocure followed Basic v. Levinson,3 in which the
Supreme Court adopted the standard of materiality set out in TSC
Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc.74 for Section 10b and Rule 10b-5
securities fraud actions.7

' The court in Infocure reitterated that "an
omitted fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable shareholder would consider it important in deciding how to
vote."7

' The court in Infocure, following TSC Industries, realized that
"requiring companies to disclose every detail of corporate development
would inundate shareholders with information of 'dubious significance'
and would not help shareholders make an informed decision regarding
securities and merger transactions.77 The court in Infocure, relying on
Basic, stated that for purposes of a claim under Rule 10b-5, "[miaterial-
ity ... is fulfilled when there is 'a substantial likelihood that the
disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable
investor as having significantly altered the "total mix" of information
made available.'"

78

70. See generally id.
71. Id. at 1348. The court in Infocure stated that "a law firm may not be held liable

for securities fraud merely because it played a substantial role in the transaction at issue."
Id. at 1350.

72. Id. at 1348 (citing Bryant v. Avado Brands, Inc., 187 F.3d 1271, 1281 (11th Cir.
1999); Robbins v. Koger Props., Inc., 116 F.3d 1441, 1447 (11th Cir. 1997); Bruschi v.
Brown, 876 F.2d 1526, 1528 (11th Cir. 1989); Sturm v. Marriott Marquis Corp., 26 F. Supp.
2d 1358, 1364-65 (N.D. Ga. 1998)). The merger transactions in Infocure made plaintiffs
.purchasers" of Infocure stock under the securities laws, which gives rise to obligations
under both federal and state securities laws. Id. at 1335.

73. 485 U.S. 224 (1988).
74. 426 U.S. 438 (1976).
75. 485 U.S. at 230-31.
76. 210 F. Supp. 2d at 1348-49 (citing TSC Indus., 426 U.S. at 449).
77. Id. at 1349 (citing TSC Indus., 426 U.S. at 448).
78. Id. (quoting Basic, 485 U.S. at 231-32).
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Scienter, as discussed above, is the mental state required to be proved
in order to establish liability for a Rule 10b-5 securities fraud claim. In
the Eleventh Circuit, this mental state encompasses not only an actual
intent to deceive but also "severe recklessness. 9

The Eleventh Circuit explained justifiable reliance in Gochnauer v.
A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc."° as a showing of plaintiffs' reliance on the
misrepresented or omitted information."' The Eleventh Circuit also
explained that "reasonable reliance" is a subjective test and, not only
must the plaintiff actually rely on the information, the reliance must be
"justifiable."2 The court in Gochnauer said that to establish justifiable
reliance, plaintiff must show that with the exercise of reasonable
diligence, plaintiff would still "not have discovered the truth behind the
fraudulent omission or misrepresentation." 3

C. Application of Rule 1Ob-5 Claims to Infocure

The court in Infocure stated that the "application of these factors in
this case leads ... to the conclusion that [Morris, Manning & Martin]
did not have an actionable duty to disclose to the [plaintiffs]." 4 The
court noted that each plaintiff was represented by his own counsel who
had direct access to Infocure and any information regarding Infocure.8"
The court also stated that no attorney-client relationship existed
between Morris, Manning & Martin and plaintiffs and that "[w]ithout a
fiduciary obligation, it can hardly be said that the attorney for one party
owes a duty to the opposing party, who was represented by competent
lawyers of his own choice. This factor weighs heavily against finding a
duty to disclose on behalf of [Morris, Manning & Martin)."86

79. See supra note 11 and accompanying text.
80. 810 F.2d 1042 (11th Cir. 1987).
81. Id. at 1047.
82. Id.
83. Id. Although no single factor is dispositive, the Eleventh Circuit has delineated

several factors to be applied in determining whether there was justifiable reliance,
including:

(1) the sophistication and expertise of the plaintiff in financial and security
matters; (2) the existence of long standing business or personal relationships
between the plaintiff and defendant; (3) the plaintiff's access to relevant
information; (4) the existence of a fiduciary relationship owed by the defendant to
the plaintiffs[;) (5) concealment of fraud by the defendant; (6) whether the plaintiff
initiated the stock transaction or sought to expedite the transaction; and (8)[sic)
the generality or specificity of misrepresentations.

Bruschi v. Brown, 876 F.2d 1526, 1529 (11th Cir. 1989).
84. 210 F. Supp. 2d at 1351.
85. Id.
86. Id.

1648 [Vol. 54



SECURITIES

Plaintiffs in Infocure attempted to rely on Morris, Manning & Martin's
opinion letter, which was issued in connection with the mergers.87 Law
firm opinion letters generally opine that,(i) the securities to be issued in
the merger are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and nonassess-
able; (ii) the company has been duly organized and is in good standing;
(iii) the company has the appropriate power to enter into and perform
under the agreements; (iv) entering the transaction will not violate of
the company's articles, bylaws, or material agreements; and (v) various
share transfer, capitalization, litigation, qualification, consent, and other
matters.

The Morris, Manning & Martin opinion letters were issued to the
target companies and not to the individual plaintiffs,"8 which is typical
of law firm opinion letters in merger transactions. The court held that
because the opinion letters were addressed to the target companies
alone, only the target companies could rely on the opinion letters, not
the individual plaintiffs.8 9

The court in Infocure stated that the remaining factors in the duty to
disclose analysis were not in favor of plaintiffs because there was no
evidence that plaintiffs were denied access to information about
Infocure." Further, although Morris, Manning & Martin had undis-
closed knowledge about Infocure, Morris, Manning & Martin enjoyed a
privilege (if not a duty) not to disclose confidential information.9 Also,
Morris, Manning & Martin received typical legal fees from the mergers
and did not receive additional benefits from the transaction, such as
stockholder benefits.9 A legal fee alone cannot create a duty to
disclose or "every legal representative to a transactional client could find
itself owing a duty to the third party involved."93

The court in Infocure compared Infocure to Ziemba v. Cascade
International, Inc.," in which the Eleventh Circuit held that the mere
fact that a law firm had played a significant role in drafting, creating,
reviewing, or editing a corporation's allegedly fraudulent letters and
press releases was an insufficient basis for holding the law firm
primarily liable under Rule 10b-5."8 In Ziemba the court held that

87. Id.
88. Id. Plaintiffs also failed to show that Morris, Manning & Martin was aware of the

individual plaintiffs reliance on the opinion letter. Id.
89. Id.
90. Id. at 1352.
91. Id.
92. Id.
93. Id.
94. 256 F.3d 1194 (11th Cir. 2001).
95. Id. at 1205-08.
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defendant law firm had no duty to make any disclosures concerning its
client to plaintiffs because (i) there was no attorney-client relationship
between plaintiffs and the law firm that might have created a fiduciary
obligation on the, part of the law firm," (ii) fiduciary responsibilities
owed to the client by defendant law firm created a privilege not to
disclose certain information," and (iii) there were no statements
attributed to defendant on which plaintiffs could rely." For these
reasons, the Eleventh Circuit in Ziemba held that defendant law firm
had no duty to disclose information to plaintiffs."

In Infocure, as in Ziemba, no attorney-client relationship existed
between plaintiffs and the law firm.' ° ' Each plaintiff was represented
by counsel and participated in the transaction negotiations and
closings.' "As the attorney for Infocure, [Morris, Manning & Martin]
enjoyed certain privileges not to disclose information about [Infocure] in
the absence of a duty to do so."1"' Finally, plaintiffs were not entitled
to rely on the opinion letter issued by Morris, Manning & Martin
because it was addressed solely to plaintiffs' corporation.' 3 In a ruling
that was consistent with the Eleventh Circuit's precedent in Ziemba, the
court in Infocure held that Morris, Manning & Martin had no duty to
disclose to plaintiffs information regarding a potentially material
transaction or Infocure's retention of an investment banking firm to
evaluate merger alternatives.1"' The court also stated that even if
there had been a duty of disclosure, "the alleged omissions were not
material to the [plaintiffs]."'0 5

In conclusion, 2002 saw the decisions in Hamilton and Sunterra build
upon the existing roadmap to meet the scienter pleading requirement in
the Eleventh Circuit when alleging fraud against a company's outside
auditors; a road that, while once less traveled, may unfortunately

96. Id. at 1206. See also Schatz v. Rosenberg, 943 F.2d 485, 492 (4th Cir. 1991)
(holding that "unless a relationship of 'trust and confidence' exists between a lawyer and
a third party, the federal securities laws do not impose on a lawyer a duty to disclose
information to a third party").

97. 256 F.3d at 1206-07. See Barker v. Henderson, Franklin, Starnes & Holt, 797 F.2d
490, 497 (7th Cir. 1986) ("Neither lawyers nor accountants are required to tattle on their
clients in the absence of some duty to disclose. To the contrary, attorneys have privileges
not to disclose.").

98. 256 F.3d at 1207.
99. Id.

100, 210 F. Supp. 2d at 1353.
101. Id.
102. Id.
103. Id.
104. Id.
105. Id.
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become much more traveled in the future. In 2002, in a ruling
consistent with Eleventh Circuit precedent, the court in Infocure held
that the law firm of Morris, Manning & Martin should not be liable
under a Rule 10b-5 claim because the law firm did not have a duty to
disclose information to plaintiffs. The court rendered its opinion on July
17, 2002, less than two weeks prior to the time President George W.
Bush signed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 into law. Additionally, in
In re Enron Corp. Securities, Derivative & ERISA Litigation,'O" a
federal court has found that primary securities fraud allegations were
sufficiently stated against a number of secondary actors, including
Enron's outside law firm, its auditor, and commercial and investment
banks. In In re Enron, the court held that secondary actors can be liable
for primary violations under an alleged scheme to defraud if all of Rule
10b-5's requirements have been satisified as to each actor. While the
decision in Infocure provides good precedent for attorneys and law firms
in transactional matters involving securities, it will be interesting to
watch whether the decision in Infocure will stand the test of time in
light of the decision in In re Enron, the requirements of Section 307 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the final SEC rules promulgated
pursuant to Section 307 regarding the heightened minimum professional
conduct requirements for attorneys representing public companies.

106. 235 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D. Tex. 2002).
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